UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

\boxtimes	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION For t	` ′	THE SECURITIE and ended June 30,		DF 1934
		C)R		
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION	I 13 OR 15(d) OF	THE SECURITIE	ES EXCHANGE ACT	OF 1934
		nsition period from			
	C	Commission File 1	Number: 001-4001	5	
		VIV	NT	0	
		Viant Tech	nology Inc.		
	(Exact na	ame of registrant	as specified in it	s charter)	
	Delaware			85-3447	7553
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)			(I.R.S. En Identificati	
			Drive, Suite 100 CA 92612		
	(Address	s of principal exec	eutive offices and	zip code)	
		(949) 8	61-8888		
	(Registra	ant's telephone nu	mber, including a	rea code)	
Sagu	rities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:				
Sccu		To all a	Sb al(a)	N £	and a man an archital maniatare d
	Title of each class Class A common stock, par value \$0.001 per share		Symbol(s) SP	The Nase	xchange on which registered daq Stock Market LLC Global Select Market)
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter perirements for the past 90 days. Yes ⊠ No □			by Section 13 or 15(d)	of the Securities Exchange Act of
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has subsequiation S-T ($\S232.405$ of this chapter) during the precipity. Yes \boxtimes No \square				
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a lar merging growth company. See the definitions of "large a pany" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.				
Larg	ge accelerated filer		Accelerated fi	ler	
Non	-accelerated filer	\boxtimes	Smaller report	ting company	\boxtimes
Eme	erging growth company	\boxtimes			
new	If an emerging growth company, indicate by check m or revised financial accounting standards provided purs				nsition period for complying with any
	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a she	ell company (as d	efined in Rule 12b	o-2 of the Exchange Ac	t).
	Yes □ No ⊠				
	f August 5, 2022, there were 14,253,800 shares and 47, e per share, outstanding.	082,260 shares of	the registrant's C	lass A and Class B com	mon stock, respectively, \$0.001 par

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I.	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Financial Statements</u>	3
	A. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations	3
	B. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets	4
	C. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Units and Equity	5
	D. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	7
	E. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	23
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	42
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	42
PART II.	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	43
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	43
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	43
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	44
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	44
Item 5.	Other Information	44
Item 6.	Exhibits	45
<u>Signatures</u>		46
	2	
	2	

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (unaudited; in thousands, except per share data)

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Montl June	ıded		
		2022		2021	 2022		2021
Revenue	\$	51,200	\$	50,411	\$ 93,829	\$	90,555
Operating expenses:							
Platform operations		30,950		31,715	57,144		56,059
Sales and marketing		17,286		20,553	31,042		34,738
Technology and development		5,011		8,031	10,014		13,931
General and administrative		11,725		14,075	 22,808		24,495
Total operating expenses		64,972		74,374	121,008		129,223
Loss from operations		(13,772)		(23,963)	(27,179)		(38,668)
Interest expense, net		21		241	173		476
Other expense (income), net		299		1	303		(68)
Gain on extinguishment of debt				(6,110)	_		(6,110)
Total other expense (income), net		320		(5,868)	476		(5,702)
Net loss		(14,092)		(18,095)	(27,655)		(32,966)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(10,691)		(14,440)	(21,062)		(26,206)
Net loss attributable to Viant Technology Inc.	\$	(3,401)	\$	(3,655)	\$ (6,593)	\$	(6,760)
Loss per share of Class A common stock:							
Basic	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.32)	\$ (0.47)	\$	(0.59)
Diluted	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.32)	\$ (0.47)	\$	(0.59)
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding:	-						
Basic		14,114		11,500	13,962		11,500
Diluted		14,114		11,500	13,962		11,500

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (unaudited; in thousands, except share data)

	As	As of June 30,		As of December 31,		
		2022		2021		
Assets						
Current assets:						
Cash	\$	207,248	\$	238,480		
Accounts receivable, net of allowances		93,481		110,739		
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		2,911		2,967		
Total current assets		303,640		352,186		
Property, equipment, and software, net		22,525		22,331		
Operating lease assets		19,688		_		
Intangible assets, net		1,222		1,786		
Goodwill		12,422		12,422		
Other assets		397		406		
Total assets	\$	359,894	\$	389,131		
Liabilities and stockholders' equity						
Liabilities						
Current liabilities:						
Accounts payable	\$	28,239	\$	32,877		
Accrued liabilities		31,558		34,086		
Accrued compensation		7,603		12,247		
Current portion of deferred revenue		64		1,317		
Current portion of operating lease liabilities		2,014		_		
Other current liabilities		1,245		2,531		
Total current liabilities		70,723	,	83,058		
Long-term debt		_		17,500		
Long-term portion of deferred revenue		_		5,234		
Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities		18,994		_		
Other long-term liabilities		_		765		
Total liabilities		89,717		106,557		
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)						
Stockholders' equity						
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value						
Authorized shares — 10,000,000						
Issued and outstanding — none		_		_		
Class A common stock, \$0.001 par value						
Authorized shares — 450,000,000						
Issued — 14,393,501 and 13,920,868						
Outstanding — 14,253,800 and 13,704,638		14		14		
Class B common stock, \$0.001 par value						
Authorized shares — 150,000,000						
Issued and outstanding — 47,082,260 and 47,107,130		47		47		
Additional paid-in capital		89,276		82,888		
Accumulated deficit		(29,380)		(20,139)		
Treasury stock, at cost; 139,701 and 216,230 shares held		(861)		(2,648)		
Total stockholders' equity attributable to Viant Technology Inc.		59,096		60,162		
Noncontrolling interests		211,081		222,412		
Total equity		270,177		282,574		
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	359,894	\$	389,131		

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS AND EQUITY (unaudited; in thousands)

	Commo	ss A on Stock	Commo	ss B on Stock	_	Additional Paid-In	Ac	ccumulated			Noncontrolling		
	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amoun	<u>t</u>	Capital	_	Deficit	Shares	Amount	Interests	Equity	
Balance as of December 31, 2021	13,921	\$ 14	47,107	\$ 47	<u>\$</u>	82,888	\$	(20,139)	(216)	\$ (2,648)	\$ 222,412	\$ 282,574	
Exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common stock Issuance of common stock in connection with	25	_	(25)	_	-	_		_	_	_	_	_	
equity-based compensation plans	126	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_		
Reissuance of treasury stock in connection with equity-based compensation plans Allocation of		_	_	_	-	_		(2,648)	216	2,648	_	_	
equity to noncontrolling interests	_	_	_	_	_	(4,276)		_	_	_	4,276	_	
Accrued member tax distributions	_	_	_	_	-	(12)		_	_	_		(12)	
Stock-based compensation	_	_	_	_	-	7,326		_	_	_	_	7,326	
Net loss								(3,192)			(10,371)	(13,563)	
Balance as of March 31, 2022	14,072	\$ 14	47,082	\$ 47	' \$	85,926	\$	(25,979)	_	s —	\$ 216,317	\$ 276,325	
Issuance of common stock in connection with equity-based compensation plans	322	9 14	47,002	9 4 ,	D	63,720	Ψ	(23,717)		<u>ψ</u>	<u>ψ 210,317</u>	<u> </u>	
Repurchase of treasury shares in connection with the taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards		_	_	_	_				(140)	(861)	_	(861)	
Allocation of equity to noncontrolling interests	_	_	_	_	-	(5,455)		_	— (140 <i>)</i>		5,455		
Accrued member tax distributions	_	_	_	_	-	(16)		_	_	_	_	(16)	
Stock-based compensation	_		_	_	-	8,821		(2.401)	_	_	(10.601)	8,821	
Net loss					_	_	_	(3,401)			(10,691)	(14,092)	
Balance as of June 30, 2022	14,394	<u>\$ 14</u>	47,082	\$ 47	<u> </u>	89,276	\$	(29,380)	(140)	<u>\$ (861)</u>	\$ 211,081	\$ 270,177	

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS AND EQUITY – (continued) (unaudited; in thousands)

	Prefer	vertible red Units Amount		mmon J <u>nits</u> Amount	Commo	ass A on Stock Amount		ass B on Stock Amount	Additional Paid-In Capital	Accumulated Deficit	Members' Equity	St	asury ock Amount	Noncontrolling Interests	Total Equity
Balance as of December 31, 2020		\$ 7,500	400	<u>\$</u>	<u> </u>	\$ <u>_</u>	<u></u>	\$ <u>_</u>	\$ <u></u>	\$ <u></u>	\$ 20,117		<u>\$</u>		\$ 20,117
Net income prior to Reorganization Transactions	_		_		_	_	_	_		_	669	_	_	_	669
Effect of Reorganization Transactions	(600)	(7,500)	(400)	_	_	_	48,936	49	28,237	_	(20,786)	_	_	_	7,500
Issuance of Class A common stock in initial public offering, net of underwriting and offering					11,500	12	(1,500)	(2)	228,175						228,185
Allocation of equity to noncontrolling interests	_				11,300		(1,300)	(2)	(208,587)	_	_	_	_	208,587	
Accrued member tax distributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	75	_	_	_	_		75
Stock-based compensation Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	19,756	_	_	_	_	_	19,756
subsequent to Reorganization Transactions Balance as of										(3,104)				(12,435)	(15,539)
March 31, 2021		<u>\$</u>		<u>\$</u>	11,500	\$ 12	47,436	\$ 47	\$ 67,656	\$ (3,104)	<u>\$</u>		<u>\$</u>	\$ 196,152	\$ 260,763
Accrued member tax distributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(192)	_	_	_	_	_	(192)
Stock-based compensation Net loss									34,576	(3,655)				(14,440)	34,576 (18,095)
Balance as of June 30, 2021		<u>\$</u>		<u>\$</u>	11,500	\$ 12	47,436	\$ 47	\$ 102,040	\$ (6,759)	<u>\$</u>	_=	<u>\$</u>	\$ 181,712	\$ 277,052

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited; in thousands)

Six Months Ended June 30,

		June	. 50,		
		2022		2021	
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net loss	\$	(27,655)	\$	(32,966)	
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:					
Depreciation and amortization		6,380		5,051	
Stock-based compensation		14,144		46,777	
Provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts		51		(200)	
Loss on disposal of assets		305		8	
Gain on extinguishment of debt				(6,110)	
Amortization of operating lease assets		1,311		_	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Accounts receivable		17,206		26,220	
Prepaid expenses and other assets		65		(1,753)	
Accounts payable		(4,652)		(5,126)	
Accrued liabilities		(2,528)		(4,939)	
Accrued compensation		(4,607)		(1,831)	
Deferred revenue		(6,486)		(1,082)	
Operating lease liabilities		(957)		_	
Other liabilities		(1,096)		(478)	
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities		(8,519)		23,571	
Cash flows from investing activities:		·			
Purchases of property and equipment		(397)		(266)	
Capitalized software development costs		(3,941)		(3,750)	
Net cash used in investing activities		(4,338)		(4,016)	
Cash flows from financing activities:		(3)	_	() /	
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of underwriting discounts		_		232,500	
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards		(861)			
Payment of member tax distributions		(14)		(6,805)	
Payment of offering costs		(II) —		(2,608)	
Repayment of revolving credit facility		(17,500)		(2,000)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		(18,375)		223,087	
Net increase (decrease) in cash		(31,232)	_	242,642	
Cash at beginning of period		238,480		9,629	
Cash at end of period	\$	207,248	\$	252,271	
•	D	207,246	Φ	232,271	
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:	Φ.	1.67	Ф	260	
Cash paid for interest	\$	167	\$	360	
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:					
Stock-based compensation included in capitalized software development costs	\$	2,003	\$	7,556	
Accrued member tax distributions	\$	19	\$	192	
Capitalized assets financed by accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	314	\$	215	
Noncash gain on extinguishment of debt related to Paycheck Protection Program loan	\$	_	\$	6,110	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

		Page
Note 1	Nature of Operations	8
Note 2	Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies	9
Note 3	Revenue	12
Note 4	Property, Equipment, and Software, Net	12
Note 5	<u>Leases</u>	13
Note 6	Intangible Assets, Net	15
Note 7	Accrued Liabilities	16
Note 8	Revolving Credit Facility and PPP Loan	16
Note 9	Stock-Based Compensation	17
Note 10	Income Taxes and Tax Receivable Agreement	19
Note 11	Loss Per Share	20
Note 12	Noncontrolling Interests	21
Note 13	Commitments and Contingencies	22.

1. Nature of Operations

Viant Technology Inc. (the "Company," "we," "us," "our" or "Viant") was incorporated in the State of Delaware on October 9, 2020 for the purpose of facilitating an initial public offering ("IPO") and other related transactions. The Company operates a demand side platform ("DSP"), Adelphic, an enterprise software platform that is used by marketers and their advertising agencies to centralize the planning, buying and measurement of their advertising across channels, including desktop, mobile, connected TV, linear TV, in-game, streaming audio and digital billboards.

On February 9, 2021, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") declared effective the Company's Form S-1 related to the IPO of its Class A common stock. The closing date of the IPO was February 12, 2021, and in connection with the closing and the corporate reorganization (the "Reorganization Transactions"), the following actions were taken:

- The Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation, under which the Company is authorized to issue up to 450,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, up to 150,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock;
- The limited liability company agreement of Viant Technology LLC was amended and restated (as amended and restated, the "Viant Technology LLC Agreement") to, among other things, provide for Class A units and Class B units and appoint the Company as the sole managing member of Viant Technology LLC;
- The Viant Technology LLC Agreement classified the interests acquired by the Company as Class A units, reclassified the interests held by the continuing members of Viant Technology LLC as Class B units, and permits the continuing members of Viant Technology LLC to exchange Class B units for shares of Class A common stock of Viant Technology Inc. on a one-for-one basis or, at the election of Viant Technology Inc., for cash at the current fair value on the date of the exchange. Immediately following such reclassification, the continuing members held 48,935,559 Class B units. For each membership unit of Viant Technology LLC that was reclassified as a Class B unit, the Company issued one corresponding share of our Class B common stock to the continuing members, or 48,935,559 shares of Class B common stock in total;
- The Company issued and sold 10,000,000 shares of its Class A common stock to the underwriters at an IPO price of \$25.00 per share, for gross proceeds of \$250.0 million before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$17.5 million;
- The Company used the net proceeds of \$232.5 million to acquire 10,000,000 newly issued Class A units of Viant Technology LLC at a perunit price equal to the per-share price paid by the underwriters for shares of our Class A common stock;
- The underwriters exercised their option to purchase 1,500,000 additional shares of Class A common stock from the selling stockholders in the IPO. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders. Pursuant to such exercise, the selling stockholders exchanged the corresponding number of Class B units for the shares of Class A common stock, the corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock were automatically retired, and 1,500,000 Class A units were issued to the Company;

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

- The Class B stockholders and Class A stockholders initially had 80.5% and 19.5%, respectively, of the combined voting power of the Company's common stock. The Class A common stock outstanding represents 100% of the rights of the holders of all classes of the Company's outstanding common stock to share in distributions from the Company, except for the right of Class B stockholders to receive the par value of the Class B common stock upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up or an exchange of Class B units;
- The Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the Class B stockholders to provide for certain rights and restrictions after the IPO; and
- Viant Technology LLC's 2020 Equity Based Incentive Compensation Plan (the "Phantom Unit Plan") was terminated and replaced with the Company's 2021 Long Term Incentive Plan (the "LTIP").

Immediately following the closing of the IPO, Viant Technology LLC is the predecessor of the Company for financial reporting purposes. Viant Technology Inc. is a holding company, and its sole material asset is its equity interest in Viant Technology LLC. As the sole managing member of Viant Technology LLC, the Company operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Viant Technology LLC. The Reorganization Transactions are accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control. As a result, the condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company recognize the assets and liabilities received in the Reorganization Transactions at their historical carrying amounts, as reflected in the historical consolidated financial statements of Viant Technology LLC. The Company consolidates Viant Technology LLC in its condensed consolidated financial statements and records a noncontrolling interest related to the Class B units held by the Class B stockholders on its condensed consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") for interim financial information which are unaudited and include the operations of the Company, Viant Technology LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Viant Technology LLC is considered a variable interest entity. The Company is the primary beneficiary and sole managing member of Viant Technology LLC and has decision making authority that significantly affects the economic performance of the entity. As a result, the Company consolidates Viant Technology LLC. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Viant Technology LLC has been determined to be the predecessor for accounting purposes and, accordingly, the condensed consolidated financial statements for periods prior to the IPO and the related Reorganization Transactions have been adjusted to combine the previously separate entities for presentation purposes. Amounts for the period from January 1, 2021 through February 11, 2021 presented in the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes to condensed consolidated financial statements herein represent the historical operations of Viant Technology LLC. The amounts as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and the operations since February 12, 2021 reflect the consolidated operations of the Company.

Management believes that the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the adjustments necessary for the fair statement of its condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, and cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 was derived from the audited annual financial statements but does not contain all of the footnote disclosures from the annual financial statements. Certain information and disclosures normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been omitted. Accordingly, these condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The condensed consolidated results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2022 ("fiscal 2022"), or for any other future annual or interim period.

Certain reclassifications have been made within the condensed consolidated financial statements for the prior period to conform with current presentation.

There have been no material changes to our significant accounting policies as described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, primarily those related to revenue recognition, operating lease assets and liabilities, stock-based compensation, income taxes, allowances for doubtful accounts, the useful lives of capitalized software development costs and other property, equipment and software and assumptions used in the impairment analyses of long-lived assets and goodwill. These estimates are based on historical data and experience, as well as various other factors that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

As of June 30, 2022, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business continues to evolve. As a result, many of our estimates and assumptions consider macro-economic factors in the market, which require increased judgment and carry a higher degree of variability and volatility. As events continue to evolve and additional information becomes available, our estimates may change materially in future periods.

Comprehensive Loss

For the periods presented, net loss is equal to comprehensive loss.

Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowances

The following table presents changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022:

	(in thou	sands)
Balance as of December 31	\$	54
Provision for doubtful accounts		51
Write-offs, net of recoveries		(1)
Balance as of March 31	\$	104
Provision for doubtful accounts		1
Write-offs, net of recoveries		_
Balance as of June 30	\$	105

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of risk consist principally of cash and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash with financial institutions and its cash levels exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation's federally insured limits. Accounts receivable include amounts due from customers with principal operations primarily in the United States.

As of June 30, 2022, one individual customer accounted for 12.0% of consolidated accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2021, two individual customers accounted for 13.2% and 12.3% of consolidated accounts receivable.

As of June 30, 2022, one individual supplier accounted for 19.9% of consolidated accounts payable and accrued liabilities. As of December 31, 2021, one individual supplier accounted for 16.8% of consolidated accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

The following table provides the Company's concentrations of risk with respect to individual customers and advertising agency holding companies as a percentage of the Company's total revenues:

	Three Months June 30,		Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2022	2021	2022	2021	
Individual Customer					
A	<10.0%	<10.0%	<10.0%	11.3%	
Advertising Agency Holding Company					
A	<10.0%	14.7%	<10.0%	14.2%	
В	<10.0%	10.0%	<10.0%	<10.0%	
C	12.7%	<10.0%	10.5%	<10.0%	

Operating Leases

See Note 5—Leases.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

JOBS Act Election as an Emerging Growth Company

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the "JOBS Act") was signed into law. The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other things, reduce certain reporting requirements for qualifying public companies. As an "emerging growth company," the Company may, under Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), delay adoption of new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies until such standards would otherwise apply to private companies. An "emerging growth company" is one with less than \$1.07 billion in annual sales, has less than \$700 million in market value of its shares of common stock held by non-affiliates and issues less than \$1 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period. The Company may take advantage of this extended transition period until the first to occur of the date that it (i) is no longer an "emerging growth company" or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of this extended transition period.

The Company has elected to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period. Until the date that the Company is no longer an "emerging growth company" or affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the exemption provided by Securities Act Section 7(a)(2)(B), upon issuance of a new or revised accounting standard that applies to its condensed consolidated financial statements and that has a different effective date for public and private companies, the Company will disclose the date on which it will adopt the recently issued accounting standard.

Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-13, *Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments*. The ASU revises the impairment model to utilize an expected loss methodology in place of the currently used incurred loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of losses on financial instruments, including, but not limited to, available for sale debt securities and accounts receivable. The guidance is effective for the Company's annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2022 and interim reporting periods within that annual reporting period. The Company does not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

Codification Improvements

In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-10, *Codification Improvements*, which updates various codification topics by clarifying disclosure requirements to align with the SEC's regulations. The guidance is effective for the Company's annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2021 and interim reporting periods within the annual period beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently assessing the impact this guidance will have on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, *Leases*, which requires an entity to recognize operating lease assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. We adopted this standard at the beginning of fiscal 2022. See Note 5—Leases for additional information.

Issuer's Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options

In May 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-04, *Issuer's Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options*, which clarifies an issuer's accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity-classified written call options that remain equity classified after modifications or exchanges. The ASU requires issuers to account for the modifications or exchanges based on the economic substance of the modification or exchange and whether the transaction was done to issue equity, to issue or modify debt, or for other reasons. We adopted this standard prospectively on January 1, 2022. The adoption did not have an impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.

3. Revenue

The disaggregation of revenue was as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,				
	 2022	2021			2022	2021			
Over-time revenue	\$ 173	\$	1,105	\$	361	\$	2,209		
Point-in-time revenue	51,027		49,306		93,468		88,346		
Total revenue	\$ 51,200	\$	50,411	\$	93,829	\$	90,555		

Revenue for unsatisfied performance obligations expected to be recognized in the future for contracts with an original expected duration of greater than one year was de minimis as of June 30, 2022 and \$6.6 million as of December 31, 2021. These amounts do not include contracts with an original expected duration of less than one year, which is the majority of the Company's contracts. The decrease from the prior-year end was primarily due to an agreement modification whereby the Company agreed to a \$6.2 million cash settlement with one of its customers in exchange for the full, final and immediate termination of certain deferred revenue liabilities. The remaining decrease was due to the recognition of revenue during the normal course of business.

Remaining deferred revenue that is anticipated to be recognized during the succeeding 12-month period is recorded in the current portion of deferred revenue within the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

4. Property, Equipment and Software, Net

Major classes of property, equipment and software were as follows:

	As	of June 30,	As of I	December 31,
		2022		2021
Capitalized software development costs	\$	66,890	\$	61,490
Computer equipment		1,021		1,823
Purchased software		32		32
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment		1,201		1,159
Leasehold improvements		2,483		2,178
Total property, equipment and software	'	71,627		66,682
Less: Accumulated depreciation		(49,102)		(44,351)
Total property, equipment and software, net	\$	22,525	\$	22,331

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Depreciation recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
		2022		2021		2022		2021
Platform operations	\$	2,573	\$	1,766	\$	4,709	\$	3,344
Sales and marketing		_		_		_		_
Technology and development		223		383		818		763
General and administrative		153		168		289		330
Total	\$	2,949	\$	2,317	\$	5,816	\$	4,437

For the three months ended June 30, 2022, total interest cost incurred was de minimis. For the three months ended June 30, 2021, total interest cost incurred was \$0.2 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, total interest cost incurred was \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million, respectively. Interest costs capitalized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 were de minimis.

5. Leases

At the beginning of fiscal 2022, the Company adopted new lease accounting guidance issued by the FASB. The most significant change requires lessees to record the present value of operating lease payments as operating lease assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements.

We adopted the new guidance using the modified retrospective method at the beginning of fiscal 2022. As such, the condensed consolidated balance sheets for prior periods are not comparable to our fiscal 2022 periods. The Company adopted the new guidance by applying the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance, which allowed the Company to carry forward its original assessment of whether:

- our existing arrangements are or contain leases;
- our existing arrangements are operating or finance leases; and
- to capitalize initial direct costs.

The adoption of the new guidance resulted in the recognition of operating lease assets of approximately \$21.0 million and operating lease liabilities of approximately \$22.0 million, which were measured by the present value of the remaining minimum lease payments. In accordance with the guidance, the Company elected the practical expedient to exclude from the measurement of the operating lease assets and lease liabilities leases with a remaining term less than one year. The Company also elected the practical expedient that allows lessees the option to account for lease and non-lease components together as a single component for all real estate classes of underlying assets. At adoption, in the condensed consolidated balance sheet, we also reclassified deferred rent of approximately \$1.0 million for operating leases at the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 from other current liabilities (current portion) and other long-term liabilities (non-current portion) to current portion of operating lease liabilities and long-term portion of operating lease liabilities, respectively. The impact on the Company's condensed consolidated statements of income and cash flows was not material.

The present value of the lease payments was calculated using the Company's incremental borrowing rate applicable to the lease, which is determined by estimating what it would cost the Company to borrow a collateralized amount equal to the total lease payments over the lease term based on the contractual terms of the lease and the location of the leased asset.

Lessee Arrangements

The Company has operating leases for its office space, which have remaining lease terms of up to nine years. The Company does not have finance leases. The Company did not enter into any leases during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

We determine whether an arrangement is a lease at the contract inception date. Our leases may require us to make fixed rental payments or variable lease payments, which are based on a variety of factors including property values, tax and utility rates, property services fees, and other factors. Since these costs are variable in nature, they are excluded from the measurement of the reported operating lease assets and liabilities and are expensed as incurred. The Company records rent expense for operating leases, some of which have escalating rent payments, on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Some of our leases include renewal options to extend the leases for up to five years and/or termination options to terminate the leases within one year. If it is reasonably certain that a renewal or termination option will be exercised, the exercise of the option is

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

considered in calculating the term of the lease. As of June 30, 2022, our operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of approximately eight years and a weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of 2.9%.

As of June 30, 2022, the Company had entered into an operating lease with total estimated future lease payments of \$3.6 million that had not yet commenced and therefore is not included in the measurement of the operating right-of-use asset and operating lease liability on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The lease commenced in the third quarter of fiscal 2022.

Cash paid for amounts included in the operating lease liabilities was \$0.7 million and \$1.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.

The components of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended June 30,		Months Ended June 30,
	2022		2022
Operating lease cost	\$ 812	\$	1,624
Short-term lease cost	355		698
Variable lease cost	2		99
Total lease cost	\$ 1,169	\$	2,421

Rent expense on operating leases was \$1.0 million and \$2.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2022 were as follows:

	As of	As of June 30,				
Year		2022				
Remainder of 2022	\$	1,000				
2023		3,715				
2024		3,060				
2025		2,991				
2026		2,974				
Thereafter		13,739				
Total undiscounted future lease payments		27,479				
Less: Commitments for leases not yet commenced		3,593				
Less: Imputed interest		2,878				
Present value of operating lease liabilities		21,008				
Less: Operating lease liabilities, current		2,014				
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent	\$	18,994				

Disclosures related to periods prior to the adoption of ASC 842

Future minimum payments under the Company's non-cancelable operating leases, primarily related to office space, as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:

	As of December 31,				
Year	202	1			
2022	\$	3,039			
2023		3,953			
2024		3,060			
2025		2,991			
2026		2,974			
Thereafter		13,739			
Total minimum payments	\$	29,756			

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

6. Intangible Assets, Net

The balances of intangible assets and accumulated amortization are as follows:

A a	of	Tuna	20	2022	•
	ΛT	HIINE	111	/11/	,

115 01 0 4110 0 0) 2 0 2 2						
Remaining Weighted	-					Carrying
Average Useful Life (years)	Gro	ss Amount	Am	ortization	1	Amount
0.6	\$	4,927	\$	(4,518)	\$	409
1.6		2,300		(1,780)		520
3.7		1,400		(1,107)		293
	\$	8,627	\$	(7,405)	\$	1,222
	Average Useful Life (years) 0.6 1.6	Remaining Weighted Average Useful Life (years) 0.6 \$ 1.6	Remaining Weighted Average Useful Life (years) 0.6 \$ 4,927 1.6 2,300 3.7 1,400	Remaining Weighted Average Useful Life (years)Gross AmountAcc Am0.6\$ 4,927\$1.62,3003.71,400	Remaining Weighted Average Useful Life (years)Gross AmountAccumulated Amortization0.6\$ 4,927\$ (4,518)1.62,300(1,780)3.71,400(1,107)	Remaining Weighted Average Useful Life (years) Gross Amount Accumulated Amortization Net Amortization 0.6 \$ 4,927 \$ (4,518) \$ 1.6 2,300 (1,780) 3.7 1,400 (1,107)

As of December 31, 2021

	As of December 51, 2021							
	Remaining Weighted Average Useful Life (years)	Gro	ss Amount		cumulated ortization	N	Net Carrying Amount	
Developed technology	1.1	\$	4,927	\$	(4,169)	\$	758	
Customer relationships	2.1		2,300		(1,615)		685	
Trademarks/tradenames	4.0		1,400		(1,057)		343	
Total		\$	8,627	\$	(6,841)	\$	1,786	

Amortization of intangible assets recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
	 2022		2021		2022		2021	
Platform operations	\$ 175	\$	175	\$	350	\$	350	
Sales and marketing	_		_		_		_	
Technology and development	_		_		_		_	
General and administrative	102		132		214		264	
Total	\$ 277	\$	307	\$	564	\$	614	

Estimated future amortization of intangible assets is as follows:

	As of June 30,				
Year	2022				
Remainder of 2022	\$ 55	55			
2023	46	57			
2024	10)7			
2025	8	30			
2026	1	13			
Thereafter	-	_			
Total	\$ 1,22	22			

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

7. Accrued Liabilities

The Company's accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

	As of June 30,		As of December 31,		
		2022		2021	
Accrued traffic acquisition costs	\$	27,217	\$	30,942	
Other accrued liabilities		4,341		3,144	
Total accrued liabilities	\$	31,558	\$	34,086	

As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had a balance of \$0.8 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, payable to related parties for expenses they incurred on our behalf. This balance is recorded within accrued liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The related expense incurred by the Company was \$0.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and de minimis for the same periods in the prior year.

8. Revolving Credit Facility and PPP Loan

Revolving Credit Facility

On October 31, 2019, we entered into an asset-based revolving credit and security agreement (the "Loan Agreement") with PNC Bank, National Association ("PNC Bank"). The Loan Agreement provides a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to \$40.0 million with a maturity date of October 31, 2024. The Loan Agreement is collateralized by security interests in substantially all of our assets.

Advances under the Loan Agreement bear interest through maturity at a variable rate based upon our selection of either a Domestic Rate or a LIBOR Rate, plus an applicable margin ("Domestic Rate Loans" and "LIBOR Rate Loans"). The Domestic Rate is defined as a fluctuating interest rate equal to the greater of (1) the base commercial lending rate of PNC Bank, (2) the overnight federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (3) the Daily LIBOR Rate plus 1.00%. The effective weighted average interest rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was 2.33% and 2.01%, respectively. The applicable margin as of June 30, 2022 was equal to 0.75% for Domestic Rate Loans and 1.75% for LIBOR Rate Loans. The applicable margin that commenced October 15, 2021 is between 0.75% to 1.25% for Domestic Rate Loans and between 1.75% and 2.25% for LIBOR Rate Loans based on maintaining certain undrawn availability ratios. The facility fee for undrawn amounts under the Loan Agreement is 0.375% per annum. We will also be required to pay customary letter of credit fees, as necessary.

The Loan Agreement contains customary conditions to borrowings, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability to sell assets, make changes to the nature of the business, engage in mergers or acquisitions, incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness and guarantees, create or permit to exist liens, pay dividends, issue equity instruments, make distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock or make other investments, and engage in transactions with affiliates. The Loan Agreement also requires that we maintain compliance with a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Loan Agreement) of 1.40 to 1.00 at any time undrawn availability under the Loan Agreement is less than 25%. As of June 30, 2022, we were in compliance with all covenants.

On May 6, 2022, the Company fully paid off the outstanding balance of advances under the revolving credit facility, and the carrying value as of June 30, 2022 was zero.

The carrying value as of December 31, 2021 was \$17.5 million, which was recorded in "Long-term debt" on the condensed consolidated balance sheet and approximated its fair value as the interest rate is variable and approximates prevailing market interest rates for similar debt arrangements. The fair value of debt was estimated using primarily level 2 inputs including quoted market prices or discounted cash flow analyses, based on estimated incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

PPP Loan

On April 14, 2020, the Company received proceeds from a Paycheck Protection Program Loan (the "PPP Loan") in the amount of approximately \$6.0 million from PNC Bank, as lender, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act"). The PPP Loan, which was evidenced by a note dated April 11, 2020, bore interest at an annual rate of 1.0% and matured on April 11, 2022. No interest or principal was due during the first fifteen months after April 11, 2020, although interest continued to accrue over this fifteen-month deferral period.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Proceeds from loans granted under the CARES Act were to be used for payroll, costs to continue employee group health care benefits, rent, utilities and certain other qualified costs (collectively, "qualifying expenses"). The Company used the PPP Loan proceeds for qualifying expenses. In June 2021, the Company received notice of forgiveness of the PPP Loan in whole, including all accrued unpaid interest. The Company recorded the forgiveness of approximately \$6.0 million of principal and \$0.1 million of accrued interest in "Gain on extinguishment of debt" in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

9. Stock-Based Compensation

In connection with the IPO, which occurred on February 12, 2021, the Phantom Unit Plan was replaced by the LTIP. On February 12, 2021, 6.2 million restricted stock units ("RSUs") were granted under the LTIP. The Company is authorized to grant RSUs, incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, and performance stock awards under its LTIP. As of June 30, 2022, the Company had only granted RSUs and nonqualified stock options under the LTIP. Under the LTIP, 3.7 million shares remained available for grant as of June 30, 2022.

Stock-based compensation recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
		2022		2021		2022		2021
Platform operations	\$	1,303	\$	5,540	\$	2,389	\$	8,701
Sales and marketing		2,426		11,914		4,605		18,727
Technology and development		1,425		5,029		2,594		7,968
General and administrative		2,614		7,203		4,556		11,381
Total	\$	7,768	\$	29,686	\$	14,144	\$	46,777

RSUs

The following summarizes RSU activity:

	Number of Shares (in thousands)	Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value
RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2021	3,033	\$ 24.29
Granted	2,284	6.16
Vested	(342)	25.02
Canceled/forfeited	(117)	23.92
RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2022	4,858	15.72
Granted	365	6.07
Vested	(322)	24.69
Canceled/forfeited	(120)	13.64
RSUs outstanding as of June 30, 2022	4,781	14.43

As of June 30, 2022, the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation relating to RSUs of approximately \$60.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.8 years.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Nonqualified Stock Options

The following summarizes nonqualified stock option activity:

	Number of Options (in thousands)	Weighted-Average Exercise Price	Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Term (years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in thousands)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021	220	\$ 15.88	9.7	\$ 20
Granted	3,565	6.09		
Exercised	_	_		
Canceled	(14)	12.02		
Expired	_	_		
Outstanding as of March 31, 2022	3,771	6.64	9.9	1,891
Granted	216	6.16		
Exercised	_	_		
Canceled	(89)	7.88		
Expired	_	_		
Outstanding as of June 30, 2022	3,898	6.58	9.7	<u> </u>
Vested and exercisable	16	26.10	8.9	

The weighted-average grant date fair value of the nonqualified stock options granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$3.59 and \$3.55, respectively. The Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation relating to unvested nonqualified stock options of approximately \$13.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.7 years, as of June 30, 2022.

The following table presents the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of nonqualified stock options for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

	Three and Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2022	2021			
Risk free interest rate	1.4% - 2.0%	1.2%			
Expected volatility	61.5% - 62.7%	61.1%			
Expected term (in years)	5.9 - 6.0	5.9			
Expected dividend yield	0.0%	0.0%			

Risk-Free Interest Rate. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate assumption for equity awards on the rates for U.S. Treasury securities with maturities similar to those of the expected term of the award being valued.

Expected Volatility. Due to the limited trading history of the Company's Class A common stock, the expected volatility assumption is based on volatilities of a peer group of similar companies whose share prices are publicly available. The Company will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of the Company's own stock price becomes available.

Expected Term. Given the insufficient historical data relating to nonqualified stock option exercises, the expected term assumption is based on expected terms of a peer group of similar companies whose expected terms are publicly available. The Company will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the Company's nonqualified stock option exercises becomes available.

Expected Dividend Yield. The Company's expected dividend yield assumption is zero as it has never paid dividends and has no present intention to do so in the future.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Issuance of Shares

Upon vesting of shares under the LTIP, we will issue treasury stock. If treasury stock is not available, Class A common stock will be issued.

10. Income Taxes and Tax Receivable Agreement

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax computed by applying the applicable U.S. statutory federal income tax rate of 21% to income before provision of income taxes due to Viant Technology LLC's pass-through structure for U.S. income tax purposes and the valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset in the current and prior-year periods, as well as a pass-through permanent difference related to the forgiveness of the PPP Loan in the prior-year periods. The Company did not recognize an income tax benefit (expense) on its share of pre-tax book income (loss), exclusive of the noncontrolling interest of 76.8% due to the full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, resulting in an effective tax rate of 0.0% for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

As of June 30, 2022, management determined based on applicable accounting standards and the weight of all available evidence, it was not more likely than not ("MLTN") that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred tax assets including the difference in our tax basis in excess of the financial reporting value for our investment in Viant Technology LLC. Consequently, we have established a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2022. In the event that management subsequently determines that it is MLTN that we will realize our deferred tax assets in the future over the recorded amount, a decrease to the valuation allowance will be made, which will reduce the provision for income taxes.

The Company has concluded based on applicable accounting standards and the weight of all available evidence, that it was MLTN that its deferred tax assets subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA") would not be realized as of June 30, 2022. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability related to the remaining tax savings it may realize from utilization of such deferred tax assets after concluding it was not probable that such TRA liability would be paid based on its estimates of future taxable income. As of the June 30, 2022, the total unrecorded TRA liability is approximately \$10.3 million. If utilization of the deferred tax assets subject to the TRA becomes MLTN in the future, the Company will record a liability related to the TRA, to the extent probable at that time, which will be recognized as an expense within its condensed consolidated statements of operations.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

11. Loss Per Share

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, basic net loss per share has been calculated by dividing net loss attributable to Class A common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding for the same period. Shares of Class A common stock are weighted for the portion of the period in which the shares were outstanding. Diluted net loss per share has been calculated in a manner consistent with that of basic net loss per share while considering all potentially dilutive shares of Class A common stock outstanding during the period.

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Ended	Six Months Ended June 30,			
		2022	2021			2022		2021
Numerator								_
Net loss	\$	(14,092)	\$	(18,095)	\$	(27,655)	\$	(32,966)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(10,691)		(14,440)		(21,062)		(26,206)
Net loss attributable to Viant Technology Inc.	\$	(3,401)	\$	(3,655)	\$	(6,593)	\$	(6,760)
Denominator								
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—basic and diluted		14,114		11,500		13,962		11,500
					-			
Loss per share of Class A common stock—basic	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.32)	\$	(0.47)	\$	(0.59)
Loss per share of Class A common stock—diluted	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.32)	\$	(0.47)	\$	(0.59)
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from loss per share of Class A common stock—diluted:								
Restricted stock units		4,781		6,184		4,781		6,184
Nonqualified stock options		3,898		67		3,898		67
Shares of Class B common stock		47,082		47,436		47,082		47,436
Total shares excluded from loss per share of Class A common stock—diluted		55,761		53,687		55,761		53,687

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

12. Noncontrolling Interests

We are the sole managing member of Viant Technology LLC and, as a result, consolidate the financial results of Viant Technology LLC. We report noncontrolling interests representing the economic interests in Viant Technology LLC held by the other members of Viant Technology LLC. The Viant Technology LLC Agreement classifies the interests acquired by the Company as Class A units, reclassified the interests held by the continuing members of Viant Technology LLC as Class B units for shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis or, at the election of Viant Technology Inc., for cash at the current fair value on the date of the exchange. Changes in the Company's ownership interest in Viant Technology LLC while retaining control of Viant Technology LLC will be accounted for as equity transactions. As such, future redemptions or direct exchanges of Class B units in Viant Technology LLC by the other members and future issuances of Class A common stock under the LTIP will result in a change in ownership, where the Company will rebalance the noncontrolling interest, offset by a change in additional-paid-in-capital.

The following table summarizes the ownership of Viant Technology LLC:

	As of Jun	e 30, 2022	As of December 31, 2021					
Owner	Units Owned	Ownership Percentage	Units Owned	Ownership Percentage				
Viant Technology Inc.	14,253,800	23.2%	13,704,638	22.5%				
Noncontrolling interests	47,082,260	76.8%	47,107,130	77.5%				
Total	61,336,060	100.0%	60,811,768	100.0%				

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, noncontrolling interests exchanged 24,870 Class B units of Viant Technology LLC for 24,870 shares of the Company's Class A common stock, which also resulted in the cancellation of 24,870 shares of the Company's Class B common stock that was previously held by noncontrolling interests with no additional consideration provided. There were no exchanges of Class B units of Viant Technology LLC for shares of the Company's Class A common stock during the three months ended June 30, 2022.

The following table presents the effect of changes in the Company's ownership interest in Viant Technology LLC on the Company's equity for the periods indicated. The effect of changes has not been presented for the prior-year three- and six-month periods as there were no changes in ownership interest from the date of the IPO through June 30, 2021.

	onths Ended 30, 2022	Six Months Ended June 30, 2022		
Net loss attributable to Viant Technology Inc.	\$ (3,401)	\$	(6,593)	
Transfers to noncontrolling interests:				
Decrease in the additional-paid-in-capital of Viant Technology Inc. resulting				
from ownership changes in Viant Technology LLC	 (5,455)		(9,731)	
Net decrease in equity of Viant Technology Inc. due to equity interest				
transactions with noncontrolling interests	\$ (8,856)	\$	(16,324)	

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

13. Commitments and Contingencies

As of June 30, 2022, the Company had non-cancelable operating lease commitments for office space that have been recorded as operating lease liabilities. Refer to Note 5—Leases for additional information regarding lease commitments.

Legal Matters

From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the outcome of the various legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not believe that any of these proceedings or other claims will have a material effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Guarantees and Indemnities

The Company has made no significant contractual guarantees for the benefit of third parties. However, in the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to customers, vendors, lessors, business partners and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the Company or from intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with directors and certain officers and employees that will require the Company, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or employees. The Company is not aware of indemnification claims that could have a material effect on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, no amounts for any obligation have been recorded as of June 30, 2022.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Viant Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries ("Viant," "we," "us," "our" or the "Company") should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and the related Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on March 10, 2022.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance and may include statements concerning, among other things, our business strategy (including anticipated trends and developments in, and management plans for, our business and the markets in which we operate), financial results, the sufficiency of our cash and cash provided by sales of our products and services to meet our liquidity needs, the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on our business, operations, and the markets and communities in which we, our clients, and partners operate, results of operations, revenues, operating expenses, capital expenditures, sales and marketing initiatives and competition.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as "may," "will," "could," "intend," "consider," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict" or "continue" or the negative or plural of these words or other similar terms or expressions. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made, are not guarantees of future performance. All of our forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, including but not limited to our ability to add new customers, our ability to realize the expected benefits of an industry shift away from cookie-based consumer tracking, the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the development of the market for programmatic advertising, our access to advertising inventory and people-based data, and changes in the technology industry. This is not a complete list of factors or events that could cause actual results to differ from our expectations and we cannot predict all of them. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us are qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements disclosed under the section titled "Risk Factors" appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as such disclosures may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by other reports filed with the SEC. Except as required by law, we do not intend to update or revise any forward-looking statements as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

We are an advertising software company. Our software enables the programmatic purchase of advertising, which is the electronification of the advertising buying process. Programmatic advertising is rapidly taking market share from traditional ad sales channels, which require more staffing, offer less transparency and involve higher costs to buyers.

Our demand side platform ("DSP"), Adelphic, is an enterprise software platform that is used by marketers and their advertising agencies to centralize the planning, buying and measurement of their advertising media across most channels. Through our technology, a marketer can easily buy ads on desktop, mobile, connected TV, linear TV, in-game, streaming audio and digital billboards.

We serve marketers and their advertising agencies by enabling them to plan, buy and measure programmatic campaigns. We provide an easy-to-use self-service programmatic platform that delivers transparency and control. Our platform offers customers unique visibility across a variety of advertising channels with the ability to create customized audience segments leveraging our people-based and strategic partner data to reach target audiences at scale. Our people-based approach is in contrast to the inefficient approach of cookie-based tracking. People-based data enables marketers to use first-party data for both the targeting and measurement of their ad campaigns in a manner that we believe is more accurate than utilizing a cookie-based approach.

We generate revenue by charging platform fees and service fees pursuant to agreements that enable a wide variety of marketers and their agencies to select the mix of pricing and service options that suits their unique business and advertising budget.

These options consist of a percentage of spend pricing option, a monthly subscription pricing option, and a fixed CPM pricing option. Customers who prefer to use our platform on a self-service basis to execute their advertising campaigns enter into master service agreements ("MSAs") with us, and we generate revenue under these arrangements by charging a platform fee that is either a

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

percentage of spend or a flat monthly subscription fee. Customers who prefer to use our fixed CPM pricing option enter into insertion order ("IO") arrangements with us, and we generate revenue by charging these customers a platform fee at a price for every 1,000 impressions an ad receives. We also offer different service options to our customers accessing our platform under an MSA or an IO to enable them to use our services to aid them in data management, media execution and advanced reporting. When customers utilize our services, we generate revenue by charging a service fee separate from the platform fee consisting of (1) a fee that represents a percentage of spend; (2) a flat monthly fee covering services in connection with data management and advanced reporting; or (3) a fixed CPM that is inclusive of media, other direct costs and services.

We believe that offering a mix of pricing and service options provides greater flexibility and access to our platform for marketers and their advertising agencies seeking to plan, buy, and measure programmatic campaigns. Some of our pricing and service options are relatively new to the market and are not yet material to our business from a financial perspective.

Our financial results for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, include:

- Revenue of \$51.2 million and \$50.4 million, representing an increase of 1.6%;
- Gross profit of \$20.3 million and \$18.7 million, representing an increase of 8.3%;
- Contribution ex-TAC* of \$31.7 million and \$32.2 million, representing a decrease of 1.4%;
- Net loss of \$14.1 million and \$18.1 million, representing a net improvement of 22.1%;
- Non-GAAP net income (loss)* of \$(5.9) million and \$5.2 million, representing a decrease of 213.5%; and
- Adjusted EBITDA* of \$(3.1) million and \$8.3 million, representing a decrease of 136.9%.

Our financial results for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, include:

- Revenue of \$93.8 million and \$90.6 million, representing an increase of 3.6%;
- Gross profit of \$36.7 million and \$34.5 million, representing an increase of 6.3%;
- Contribution ex-TAC* of \$59.3 million and \$58.9 million, representing an increase of 0.6%;
- Net loss of \$27.7 million and \$33.0 million, representing a net improvement of 16.1%;
- Non-GAAP net income (loss)* of \$(12.7) million and \$7.4 million, representing a decrease of 272.1%; and
- Adjusted EBITDA* of \$(7.0) million and \$13.2 million, representing a decrease of 152.6%.
- * Contribution ex-TAC, non-GAAP net income (loss) and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. For a detailed discussion of our key operating and financial performance measures and a reconciliation of contribution ex-TAC, non-GAAP net income (loss) and adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable financial measures calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP"), see "—Key Operating and Financial Performance Measures—Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures."

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Attract, Retain and Grow our Customer Base

Our recent growth has been driven by expanding the usage of our platform by our existing customers as well as adding new customers. We believe that our customers value our solutions as our number of active customers for the twelve months ended June 30, 2022 was 336, increasing by 48 active customers, or 16.7%, from the twelve months ended June 30, 2021. We further evaluate our customer's usage of our platform and assess our market penetration and scale based on the percentage change in advertiser spend. We define advertiser spend as the total amount billed to our customers for activity on our platform inclusive of the costs of advertising media, third-party data, other add-on features and our platform fee we charge clients. Advertiser spend increased 31.9% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 from the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 37.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 from the six months ended June 30, 2021. The percentage change in advertiser spend is a key measure used by our management and our board of directors to evaluate the demand for our products and to assess whether we are increasing market share. Our management uses this key metric to develop short- and long-term operational plans and make strategic decisions regarding future enhancements to our software. We believe the percentage change in advertiser spend across our platform is a useful metric for investors because it allows investors to evaluate our operational performance in the same manner as our management and board of directors. For a detailed

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

discussion of our key operating measures including the definition of active customers, see "—Key Operating and Financial Performance Measures—Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures."

We continue to add functionality to our software to encourage our customers to increase their usage of our platform. We believe many advertisers are in the early stages of moving a greater percentage of their advertising budgets to programmatic channels. By providing solutions for the planning, buying and measuring of their media spend across channels, we believe that we are well positioned to capture more of our customers' programmatic budgets. Further, we intend to continue to grow our sales and marketing efforts to increase awareness of our DSP, Adelphic, and highlight the advantages of our people-based framework as cookie-based options become increasingly limited. As a result, future revenue growth depends upon our ability to retain our existing customers and increase their usage of our platform as well as add new customers.

Investment in Growth

We believe that the advertising market is in the early stages of a shift toward programmatic advertising. We plan to invest for long-term growth. We anticipate that our operating expenses will continue to increase in the foreseeable future as we invest in platform operations, technology and development to enhance our product capabilities including identity resolution and the integration of new advertising channels, and in sales and marketing to acquire new customers and increase our customers' usage of our platform. We believe that these investments will contribute to our long-term growth, although they may have a negative impact on our profitability in the near-term.

COVID-19

The worldwide spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted, and may continue to result, in a global slowdown of economic activity, which may decrease demand for a broad variety of goods and services, including those provided by our clients, while also disrupting supply channels, sales channels and advertising and marketing activities for an unknown period of time until the COVID-19 pandemic is contained, or economic activity normalizes. With the current uncertainty in economic activity, the impact on our revenue and our results of operations is likely to continue, the size and duration of which we are currently unable to accurately predict. The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operational and financial performance will depend on a variety of factors, including the duration and spread of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our clients, partners, industry, and employees, all of which are uncertain at this time and cannot be accurately predicted. The ultimate impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows is dependent on future developments, including the duration of the pandemic, emerging variant strains of the virus with varying degrees of vaccine resistance, and the related length of its impact on the global economy, which are uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time.

Growth of the Digital Advertising Market and Macroeconomics Factors

We expect to continue to benefit from overall adoption of programmatic advertising by marketers and their agencies. Any material change in the growth rate of digital advertising or the rate of adoption of programmatic advertising, including expansion of new programmatic channels, could affect our performance. Recent years have shown that advertising spend is closely tied to advertisers' financial performance, and a downturn, either generally or in one or more of the industries in which our customers operate, could adversely impact the digital advertising market and our operating results.

Seasonality

In the advertising industry, companies commonly experience seasonal fluctuations in revenue, as many marketers allocate the largest portion of their budgets to the fourth quarter of the calendar year in order to coincide with increased holiday purchasing. Historically, the fourth quarter has reflected our highest level of advertising activity for the year. We generally expect the subsequent first quarter to reflect lower activity levels, but this trend may be masked due to the continued growth of our business. In addition, historical seasonality may not be predictive of future results given the potential for changes in advertising buying patterns and consumer activity due to COVID-19. Periods that experience an increase in COVID-19 cases and resulting governmentally-imposed restrictions could cause our revenue to decrease. Political advertising could also cause our revenue to increase during election cycles and decrease during other periods, making it difficult to predict our revenue, cash flow, and operating results, all of which could fall below our expectations. We expect our revenue to continue to fluctuate based on seasonal factors that affect the advertising industry as a whole.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Results of Operations

The following tables present our condensed consolidated results of operations, our condensed consolidated results of operations as a percentage of revenue, and the impact of stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization on each operating expense line item for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

		Three Mor	Ended	Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2022			2021	2022			2021
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:					'			_
Revenue	\$	51,200	\$	50,411	\$	93,829	\$	90,555
Operating expenses(1):								
Platform operations		30,950		31,715		57,144		56,059
Sales and marketing		17,286		20,553		31,042		34,738
Technology and development		5,011		8,031		10,014		13,931
General and administrative		11,725		14,075		22,808		24,495
Total operating expenses		64,972		74,374		121,008		129,223
Loss from operations		(13,772)		(23,963)		(27,179)		(38,668)
Total other expense (income), net		320		(5,868)		476		(5,702)
Net loss	·	(14,092)		(18,095)		(27,655)		(32,966)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(10,691)		(14,440)		(21,062)		(26,206)
Net loss attributable to Viant Technology Inc.	\$	(3,401)	\$	(3,655)	\$	(6,593)	\$	(6,760)

	Three Months June 30		Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2022	2021	2022	2021		
		(% of reven	ue*)			
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:						
Revenue	100%	100%	100%	100%		
Operating expenses:						
Platform operations	60%	63%	61%	62%		
Sales and marketing	34%	41%	33%	38%		
Technology and development	10%	16%	11%	15%		
General and administrative	23%	28%	24%	27%		
Total operating expenses	127%	148%	129%	143%		
Loss from operations	(27)%	(48)%	(29)%	(43)%		
Total other expense (income), net	1%	(12)%	1%	(6)%		
Net loss	(28)%	(36)%	(29)%	(36)%		
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(21)%	(29)%	(22)%	(29)%		
Net loss attributable to Viant Technology Inc.	(7)%	(7)%	(7)%	(7)%		

Percentages may not sum due to rounding

(1) Stock-based compensation, depreciation, and amortization included in operating expenses are as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2022		2021	2022			2021		
Stock-Based Compensation:	 			'					
Platform operations	\$ 1,303	\$	5,540	\$	2,389	\$	8,701		
Sales and marketing	2,426		11,914		4,605		18,727		
Technology and development	1,425		5,029		2,594		7,968		
General and administrative	2,614		7,203		4,556		11,381		
Total stock-based compensation	\$ 7,768	\$	29,686	\$	14,144	\$	46,777		

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,				
	 2022		2021		2022	2021			
Depreciation:			_						
Platform operations	\$ 2,573	\$	1,766	\$	4,709	\$	3,344		
Sales and marketing	_		_		_		_		
Technology and development	223		383		818		763		
General and administrative	153		168		289		330		
Total depreciation	\$ 2,949	\$	2,317	\$	5,816	\$	4,437		

		Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2	2022		2021		2022		2021		
Amortization:										
Platform operations	\$	175	\$	175	\$	350	\$	350		
Sales and marketing		_		_		_		_		
Technology and development		_		_		_		_		
General and administrative		102		132		214		264		
Total amortization	\$	277	\$	307	\$	564	\$	614		

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

Revenue

	T	Three Months Ended June 30,			Change		
		2022		2021	\$	%	
Revenue	\$	51,200	\$	50,411	\$ 789		2%

Revenue increased by \$0.8 million, or 2%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. Our revenue growth was due to a 24% increase in revenue from the prior-year period from certain marketers in industry verticals other than automotive and consumer products. This increase in revenue was partially offset by the impact of certain marketers in the automotive and consumer products industry verticals decreasing or pausing their advertising spend due to the ongoing adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of inflation, rising interest rates, the tightening of credit markets and other adverse macroeconomic and geopolitical developments potentially indicative of an economic slowdown or recession. This resulted in revenue decreasing across these industry verticals by a combined 41% from the prior-year period. Despite the uncertainty that comes with such an environment, we have continued to experience increased demand for our people-based advertising products and services, as evidenced by the continued growth of several of our industry verticals, including retail, and an increase in our active customers to 336 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2022 compared to 288 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2021. Additionally, approximately 85% of our revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2022 came from customers that had been customers in the three months ended June 30, 2021.

Operating Expenses

Platform Operations

		Three Mon	ths Er	ıded				
	June 30,				Change			
		2022		2021		\$	%	
Traffic acquisition costs	\$	19,465	\$	18,212	\$	1,253	7%	
Other platform operations		11,485		13,503		(2,018)	(15)%	
Total platform operations	\$	30,950	\$	31,715	\$	(765)	(2)%	
Platform operations as a percentage of revenue		60%		63%				

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Platform operations expense decreased by \$0.8 million, or 2%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. Traffic acquisition costs ("TAC") are amounts incurred and payable to suppliers for the cost of advertising media, third-party data and other add-on features related to our fixed CPM pricing option and certain arrangements in our percentage of spend pricing option. The change in platform operations expense for the second quarter of 2022 was primarily driven by a decrease in other platform operations expense due to a decline of \$4.2 million in stock-based compensation expense related to our 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "LTIP"). This decrease was the result of RSUs granted in connection with our initial public offering in February 2021 (the "IPO"), a portion of which became fully vested during the previous year. This decrease was partially offset by a \$1.3 million increase in TAC, a variable function of revenue, a \$1.0 million increase in cloud costs due to continued enhancements to our cloud infrastructure, a \$0.8 million increase in depreciation, and a \$0.4 million increase in third-party costs in support of our Adelphic platform.

Sales and Marketing

		Three Months	Ended	l June 30,	Change	e	
	_	2022		2021	 \$	%	
Sales and marketing	\$	17,286	\$	20,553	\$ (3,267)	(16)%	,
Percentage of revenue		34%		41%			

Sales and marketing expense decreased by \$3.3 million, or 16%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily due to a \$9.5 million decrease in stock-based compensation, partially offset by a \$2.5 million increase in personnel costs due to increased sales and marketing headcount, a \$2.5 million increase in advertising expense, and a \$0.9 million increase in travel and entertainment expenses.

Technology and Development

	Three Mo	nths E	nded			
-	Jun	Change	Change			
	 2022		2021		\$	%
Technology and development	\$ 5,011	\$	8,031	\$	(3,020)	(38)%
Percentage of revenue	10%		16%			

Technology and development expense decreased by \$3.0 million, or 38%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily attributable to a \$3.6 million decrease in stock-based compensation, which was partially offset by an increase of \$0.5 million in cloud infrastructure costs and an increase of \$0.2 million in depreciation.

General and Administrative

		Three Months	Ende	l June 30,	Change	e
	_	2022		2021	 \$	%
General and administrative	\$	11,725	\$	14,075	\$ (2,350)	(17)%
Percentage of revenue		23%	ó	28%		

General and administrative expense decreased by \$2.4 million, or 17%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily attributable to a \$4.6 million decrease in stock-based compensation, partially offset by a \$0.9 million increase in insurance, legal, and consulting expenses associated with general corporate and compliance matters, a \$0.8 million increase in travel and entertainment expenses, and a \$0.4 million increase in personnel costs due to increase in headcount.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Total Other Expense (Income), Net

	Thr	ee Months	Ended	June 30,	Chang	e
Total other expense (income), net	2022			2021	 \$	%
Total other expense (income), net	\$	\$ 320		(5,868)	\$ 6,188	105%
Percentage of revenue		1%		(12)%		

Total other expense (income), net increased by \$6.2 million, or 105%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily due to a \$6.1 million gain on extinguishment of debt in the prior-year quarter. The gain resulted from the forgiveness of our Paycheck Protection Program Loan (the "PPP Loan") and related accrued interest. There was no comparable gain during the three months ended June 30, 2022. For additional information regarding forgiveness of our PPP Loan, see Note 8—Revolving Credit Facility and PPP Loan to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

Revenue

Revenue	Six Mont	ins Enc	tea					
Revenue	Jun	e 30,		Change				
	 2022		2021	<u>-</u>	\$	%		
Revenue	\$ 93,829	\$	90,555	\$	3,274	4%		

Revenue increased by \$3.3 million, or 4%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. Our revenue growth was due to a 28% increase in revenue from the prior-year period from certain marketers in industry verticals other than automotive and consumer products. This increase in revenue was partially offset by the impact of certain marketers in the automotive and consumer products industry verticals decreasing or pausing their advertising spend due to the ongoing adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of inflation, rising interest rates, the tightening of credit markets and other adverse macroeconomic and geopolitical developments potentially indicative of an economic slowdown or recession. This resulted in revenue decreasing across these industry verticals by approximately 39% from the prior-year period. Additionally, approximately 88% of our revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2022 came from customers that had been customers in the six months ended June 30, 2021.

Operating Expenses

Platform Operations

	Six Montl June	led	Change	e
	 2022	 2021	 \$	%
Traffic acquisition costs	\$ 34,550	\$ 31,615	\$ 2,935	9%
Other platform operations	22,594	24,444	(1,850)	(8)%
Total platform operations	\$ 57,144	\$ 56,059	\$ 1,085	2%
Platform operations as a percentage of revenue	61%	 62%		

Platform operations expense increased by \$1.1 million, or 2%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. This increase was primarily driven by a \$2.9 million increase in TAC, a variable function of revenue related to our fixed CPM pricing option and certain arrangements related to our percentage of spend pricing option, a \$1.9 million increase in cloud costs due to continued enhancements to our cloud infrastructure, a \$1.4 million increase in depreciation, and a \$1.2 million increase in third-party costs in support of our Adelphic platform, partially offset by a \$6.3 million decrease in stock-based compensation expense related to the LTIP due to the RSUs that were granted in connection with the IPO, a portion of which became fully vested during the previous year.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Sales and Marketing

	Six Mont Jun	ths En e 30,	ded	Change	2
	 2022		2021	\$	%
Sales and marketing	\$ \$ 31,042		34,738	\$ (3,696)	(11)%
Percentage of revenue	33%		38%		

Sales and marketing expense decreased by \$3.7 million, or 11%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily due to a \$14.1 million decrease in stock-based compensation related to the LTIP, partially offset by a \$5.5 million increase in personnel costs as a result of increased sales and marketing headcount, a \$3.0 million increase in advertising expense, a \$1.3 million increase in travel and entertainment expenses, a \$0.3 million increase in facilities expense, and a \$0.2 million increase in software license expenses.

Technology and Development

	Six Mont	hs Enc	led			
	 Jun		Change			
	2022		2021	<u> </u>	\$	%
Technology and development	\$ 10,014	\$	13,931	\$	(3,917)	(28)%
Percentage of revenue	11%		15%			

Technology and development expense decreased by \$3.9 million, or 28%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily attributable to a \$5.4 million decrease in stock-based compensation related to the LTIP, partially offset by a \$0.6 million increase in cloud infrastructure costs, a \$0.5 million increase in personnel costs as a result of an increase in headcount to support our continued investment in developed technology, a \$0.1 million increase in facilities expense, and a \$0.1 million increase in depreciation.

General and Administrative

	Six Mont	ths En	ded		
	Jun	e 30,		Change	2
	 2022		2021	 \$	%
General and administrative	\$ 22,808	\$	24,495	\$ (1,687)	(7)%
Percentage of revenue	24%		27%		

General and administrative expense decreased by \$1.7 million, or 7%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease was primarily attributable to a \$6.8 million decrease in stock-based compensation related to the LTIP, partially offset by a \$1.5 million increase in business insurance and tax, legal, and consulting expenses associated with general corporate and compliance matters, a \$1.5 million increase in personnel costs due to increase in headcount, a \$0.8 million increase in travel and entertainment expenses, a \$0.7 million increase in facilities expense.

Total Other Expense (Income), Net

	Six Mont	ths End	led		
	Jun	e 30,		Chang	e
	 2022		2021	 \$	%
Total other expense (income), net	\$ 476	\$	(5,702)	\$ 6,178	108%
Percentage of revenue	1%		(6)%		

Total other expense (income), net increased by \$6.2 million, or 108%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. This increase was primarily due to a \$6.1 million gain on debt extinguishment in the prior-year quarter as a result of the forgiveness of our PPP Loan and related accrued interest. For additional information regarding forgiveness of our PPP Loan, see Note 8—Revolving Credit Facility and PPP Loan to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Key Operating and Financial Performance Measures

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We monitor certain non-GAAP financial measures to help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, measure the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and assess our operational efficiencies. We believe these measures enhance an overall understanding of our performance and investors' ability to review our business from the same perspective as management and facilitate comparisons of this period's results with prior periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that management does not believe are indicative of our ongoing operating performance. These non-GAAP financial measures include contribution ex-TAC, average contribution ex-TAC per active customer, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC, non-GAAP net income (loss), non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted, and non-GAAP operating expenses, each of which are discussed immediately following the table below, along with the operational performance measure of active customers. Reconciliations of these non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP are provided in the financial tables presented below. There are limitations in using non-GAAP financial measures which are not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as they may be different from non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies and may exclude certain items that may have a material impact upon our reported financial results. The presentation of this additional information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the directly comparable financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

	 Three Mont June	Ended		 Six Month June	nded	
	2022	2021	Change (%)	2022	2021	Change (%)
Operating and Financial Performance Measures	 					
Gross profit	\$ 20,250	\$ 18,696	8%	\$ 36,685	\$ 34,496	6%
Contribution ex-TAC	\$ 31,735	\$ 32,199	(1)%	\$ 59,279	\$ 58,940	1%
Net loss	\$ (14,092)	\$ (18,095)	22%	\$ (27,655)	\$ (32,966)	16%
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ (3,077)	\$ 8,346	(137)%	\$ (6,958)	\$ 13,228	(153)%
Net loss as a percentage of gross profit	(70)%	(97)%	28%	(75)%	(96)%	21%
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-						
TAC	(10)%	26%	(137)%	(12)%	22%	(152)%
Non-GAAP net income (loss)	\$ (5,934)	\$ 5,231	(213)%	\$ (12,702)	\$ 7,385	(272)%
Total operating expenses	\$ 64,972	\$ 74,374	(13)%	\$ 121,008	\$ 129,223	(6)%
Non-GAAP operating expenses	\$ 34,812	\$ 23,853	46%	\$ 66,237	\$ 45,712	45%
Loss per share—basic	\$ (0.24)	\$ (0.32)	25%	\$ (0.47)	\$ (0.59)	20%
Loss per share—diluted	\$ (0.24)	\$ (0.32)	25%	\$ (0.47)	\$ (0.59)	20%
Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share—basic	\$ (0.08)	\$ 0.07	(214)%	\$ (0.18)	\$ 0.09	(300)%
Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share—diluted	\$ (0.08)	\$ 0.06	(233)%	\$ (0.18)	\$ 0.08	(325)%
Active customers	336	288	17%	336	288	17%
Average gross profit per active customer	\$ 289	\$ 295	(2)%	\$ 289	\$ 295	(2)%
Average contribution ex-TAC per active customer	\$ 422	\$ 438	(4)%	\$ 422	\$ 438	(4)%

Contribution ex-TAC

Contribution ex-TAC is a non-GAAP financial measure. Gross profit is the most comparable GAAP financial measure, which is calculated as revenue less platform operations expense. In calculating contribution ex-TAC, we add back other platform operations expense to gross profit. Contribution ex-TAC is a key profitability measure used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our operating performance and trends, develop short- and long-term operational plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, we believe that contribution ex-TAC can provide a measure of period-to-period comparisons for all pricing options within our business. Accordingly, we believe that this measure provides information to investors and the market in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

Our use of contribution ex-TAC has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. A potential limitation of this non-GAAP financial measure is that other companies, including companies in our industry that have similar business arrangements, may define contribution ex-TAC differently, which may make comparisons difficult. Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP financial

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including revenue, gross profit, net income (loss) and cash flows. For a reconciliation of contribution ex-TAC to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, see "—*Average contribution ex-TAC per active customer*."

Active customers

We define an active customer as a customer that had total aggregate contribution ex-TAC of at least \$5,000 through our platform during the previous twelve months. For purposes of this definition, a customer that operates under any of our pricing options that equals or exceeds the aforementioned contribution ex-TAC threshold is considered an active customer. Active customers is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our operating performance and trends, develop short- and long-term operational plans and make strategic decisions regarding future enhancements to our software. We believe active customers is a useful metric for investors because it allows investors to evaluate the Company's operational performance in the same manner as our management and board of directors. Active customers is an operational metric calculated using contribution ex-TAC, a non-GAAP financial measure. For a reconciliation of contribution ex-TAC to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, see "—Average contribution ex-TAC per active customer."

Average contribution ex-TAC per active customer

We define average contribution ex-TAC per active customer as contribution ex-TAC for the trailing 12-month period presented divided by active customers. Average gross profit per active customer is the most comparable GAAP measure, which we define as gross profit for the trailing 12-month period presented divided by active customers. We believe that the total number of active customers and average contribution ex-TAC per active customer are measures of our ability to increase profitability and the effectiveness of our sales force, although we expect these measures to fluctuate based on the seasonality in our business. Customers that generated less than \$5,000 in contribution ex-TAC in the trailing 12-month period were not material in the aggregate in any period.

The following table presents the calculation of gross profit, the reconciliation of gross profit to contribution ex-TAC, average gross profit per active customer and average contribution ex-TAC per active customer for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

Less: Platform operations Gross profit Add back: Other platform operations	Three Mor	 	Six Months Ended June 30,					
	 2022	2021		2022		2021		
Revenue	\$ 51,200	\$ 50,411	\$	93,829	\$	90,555		
Less: Platform operations	(30,950)	(31,715)		(57,144)		(56,059)		
Gross profit	 20,250	18,696		36,685		34,496		
Add back: Other platform operations	11,485	13,503		22,594		24,444		
Contribution ex-TAC	\$ 31,735	\$ 32,199	\$	59,279	\$	58,940		
Active customers	336	288		336		288		
Average gross profit per active customer	\$ 289	\$ 295	\$	289	\$	295		
Average contribution ex-TAC per active customer	\$ 422	\$ 438	\$	422	\$	438		

Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by us as net income (loss) before interest expense, net, income tax benefit (expense), depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as restructuring charges, transaction expenses and the extinguishment of debt. Net income (loss) is the most comparable GAAP financial measure. Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC is a non-GAAP financial measure we calculate by dividing adjusted EBITDA by contribution ex-TAC for the period or periods presented.

Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC are used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short- and long-term operational plans. In particular, we believe that the exclusion of the amounts eliminated in calculating adjusted EBITDA can provide a measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business. Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC, a non-GAAP financial measure, is used by our management and board of directors to evaluate adjusted EBITDA relative to our profitability after costs that are directly variable to revenues, which comprise TAC. Accordingly, we believe

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

that adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC provide information to investors and the market in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

Our use of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider these measures in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these potential limitations include:

- other companies, including companies in our industry that have similar business arrangements, may report adjusted EBITDA or adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC, or similarly titled measures, but calculate them differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures;
- although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the
 future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure
 requirements; and
- adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs or the potentially dilutive impact of stock-based compensation.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP financial measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including revenue, net income (loss) and cash flows.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to adjusted EBITDA for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			
	 2022		2021	2022		2021		
Net loss	\$ (14,092)	\$	(18,095)	\$	(27,655)	\$	(32,966)	
Add back:								
Interest expense, net	21		241		173		476	
Depreciation and amortization	3,226		2,624		6,380		5,051	
Stock-based compensation	7,768		29,686		14,144		46,777	
Less:								
Gain on extinguishment of debt	_		(6,110)		_		(6,110)	
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ (3,077)	\$	8,346	\$	(6,958)	\$	13,228	

The following table presents the calculation of net loss as a percentage of gross profit and the calculation of adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	Three Months Ended June 30,					Six Mont June				
		2022 2021			2022		2021			
Gross profit	\$	20,250	\$	18,696	\$	36,685	\$	34,496		
Net loss	\$	(14,092)	\$	(18,095)	\$	(27,655)	\$	(32,966)		
Net loss as a percentage of gross profit		(70)%)	(97)%		(75)%		(96)%		
Contribution ex-TAC(1)	\$	31,735	\$	32,199	\$	59,279	\$	58,940		
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	(3,077)	\$	8,346	\$	(6,958)	\$	13,228		
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of contribution ex-TAC		(10)%		26%		(12)%		22%		

⁽¹⁾ For a reconciliation of contribution ex-TAC to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, see "—Average contribution ex-TAC per active customer."

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Non-GAAP net income (loss)

Non-GAAP net income (loss) is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by us as net income (loss) adjusted to eliminate the impact of stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as restructuring charges, transaction expenses and the extinguishment of debt. Net income (loss) is the most comparable GAAP financial measure. Non-GAAP net income (loss) is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to evaluate operating performance, generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, we believe that the elimination of stock-based compensation, gain on debt extinguishment, and certain other items that are not related to our core operations provides measures for period-to-period comparisons of our business and additional insight into our core controllable costs. Accordingly, we believe that non-GAAP net income (loss) provides information to investors and the market generally in understanding and evaluating our results of operations in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

Our use of non-GAAP net income (loss) has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. A potential limitation of this non-GAAP financial measure is that other companies, including companies in our industry that have similar business arrangements, may define non-GAAP net income (loss) differently, which may make comparisons difficult. Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP financial measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including revenue, gross profit, net income (loss) and cash flows.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to non-GAAP net income (loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2022		2021		2022		2021	
Net loss	\$	(14,092)	\$	(18,095)	\$	(27,655)	\$	(32,966)
Add back: Stock-based compensation		7,768		29,686		14,144		46,777
Less: Gain on extinguishment of debt		_		(6,110)		_		(6,110)
Income tax benefit (expense) related to Viant Technology Inc.'s share								
of adjustments(1)		390		(250)		809		(316)
Non-GAAP net income (loss)	\$	(5,934)	\$	5,231	\$	(12,702)	\$	7,385

⁽¹⁾ The estimated income tax effect of our share of non-GAAP reconciling items are calculated using an assumed blended tax rate of 25%, which represents our expected corporate tax rate, excluding discrete and non-recurring tax items.

Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted

Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted, adjusted to eliminate the impact of stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as restructuring charges, transaction expenses and the extinguishment of debt. Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted is the most comparable GAAP financial measure. Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted is used by our management and board of directors to evaluate operating performance, generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, we believe that the elimination of stock-based compensation, gain on extinguishment of debt and certain other items that are not related to our core operations provides measures for period-to-period comparisons of our business and provides additional insight into our core controllable costs. Accordingly, we believe that non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted provides information to investors and the market generally in understanding and evaluating our results of operations in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Our use of non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these potential limitations include:

- other companies, including companies in our industry that have similar business arrangements, may report non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted or similarly titled measures, but calculate them differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures; and
- although the stock-based compensation related to the LTIP referred to above is non-cash in nature, non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted does not reflect its impact on net income (loss) attributable to all common stockholders.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted.

Basic non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock is calculated by dividing the non-GAAP net income (loss) attributable to Class A common stockholders by the number of weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding. Shares of our Class B common stock do not share in our earnings or losses and are therefore not participating securities. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted non-GAAP earnings (loss) of Class B common stock under the two-class method has not been presented.

Diluted non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock adjusts the basic non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share for the potential dilutive impact of common shares such as equity awards using the treasury-stock method and Class B common stock using the if-converted method. Diluted non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock considers the impact of potentially dilutive securities except in periods in which there is a loss because the inclusion of the potential common shares would have an anti-dilutive effect. Shares of our Class B common stock, RSUs and nonqualified stock options are considered potentially dilutive shares of Class A common stock. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, Class B common stock and nonqualified stock options amounts have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock because the effect would have been anti-dilutive under the if-converted and treasury stock method, respectively.

${\bf MANAGEMENT'S~DISCUSSION~AND~ANALYSIS~OF} \\ {\bf FINANCIAL~CONDITION~AND~RESULTS~OF~OPERATIONS-(continued)} \\$

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

The following tables present the reconciliation of earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted to non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic and diluted for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	Th	ree Months End June 30, 2022	led	Three Months Ended June 30, 2021					
	Earnings (Loss) per Share	Adjustments	Non- GAAP Earnings (Loss) per Share	Earnings (Loss) per Share	Adjustments	Non- GAAP Earnings (Loss) per Share			
Numerator									
Net loss	\$ (14,092)	\$ —	\$ (14,092)	\$ (18,095)	\$ —	\$ (18,095)			
Adjustments:									
Add back: Stock-based compensation	_	7,768	7,768	_	29,686	29,686			
Less: Gain on extinguishment of debt	_	_	_	_	(6,110)	(6,110)			
Income tax benefit (expense) related to Viant Technology Inc.'s share of adjustments(1)	_	390	390	_	(250)	(250)			
Non-GAAP net income (loss)	(14,092)	8,158	(5,934)	(18,095)	23,326	5,231			
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests(2)	(10,691)	5,952	(4,739)	(14,440)	18,899	4,459			
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.—basic	(3,401)	2,206	(1,195)	(3,655)	4,427	772			
Add back: Reallocation of net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from the assumed exchange of RSUs for Class A common stock					178	178			
Income tax benefit (expense) from the assumed exchange of RSUs for Class A common stock(1)					(43)	(43)			
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.—diluted	\$ (3,401)	\$ 2,206	\$ (1,195)	\$ (3,655)	\$ 4,562	\$ 907			
Denominator			·						
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—basic	14,114	_	14,114	11,500	_	11,500			
Effect of dilutive securities:									
Restricted stock units	_	_	_	_	2,521	2,521			
Nonqualified stock options		<u> </u>				<u> </u>			
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—diluted	14,114		14,114	11,500	2,521	14,021			
Francisco (Lord) and Lord (Cilcon A common et al., Lori	¢ (0.24)	0.16	¢ (0.00)	e (0.22)	¢ 0.20	¢ 0.07			
Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic	\$ (0.24) \$ (0.24)	\$ 0.16	\$ (0.08) \$ (0.08)	\$ (0.32)	\$ 0.39	\$ 0.07 \$ 0.06			
Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted	\$ (0.24)	\$ 0.16	<u>\$ (0.08)</u>	\$ (0.32)	\$ 0.38	\$ 0.06			
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted:									
Restricted stock units			4,781			_			
Nonqualified stock options			3,898			67			
Shares of Class B common stock			47,082			47,436			
Total shares excluded from earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted			55,761			47,503			

The estimated income tax effect of our share of non-GAAP reconciling items are calculated using an assumed blended tax rate of 25%, which represents our expected corporate tax rate, excluding discrete and non-recurring tax items.

${\bf MANAGEMENT'S~DISCUSSION~AND~ANALYSIS~OF} \\ {\bf FINANCIAL~CONDITION~AND~RESULTS~OF~OPERATIONS-(continued)} \\$

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

(2) The adjustment to net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests represents stock-based compensation attributed to the noncontrolling interest of our company outstanding during the period.

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2022			<u> </u>	d	
	Earnings (Loss) per Share	Adjustments	Non- GAAP Earnings (Loss) per Share	Earnings (Loss) per Share	Adjustments	Non- GAAP Earnings (Loss) per Share
Numerator				·		
Net loss	\$ (27,655)	\$ —	\$ (27,655)	\$ (32,966)	\$ —	\$ (32,966)
Adjustments:						
Add back: Stock-based compensation	_	14,144	14,144	_	46,777	46,777
Less: Gain on extinguishment of debt	_	_		_	(6,110)	(6,110)
Income tax benefit (expense) related to Viant Technology Inc.'s share of adjustments(1)	_	809	809	_	(316)	(316)
Non-GAAP net income (loss)	(27,655)	14,953	(12,702)	(32,966)	40,351	7,385
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests(2)	(21,062)	10,838	(10,224)	(26,206)	32,612	6,406
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.—basic	(6,593)	4,115	(2,478)	(6,760)	7,739	979
Add back: Reallocation of net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from the assumed exchange of RSUs for Class A common stock Income tax benefit (expense) from the assumed exchange of RSUs	_	_	_	_	250	250
for Class A common stock(1)	_	_		_	(61)	(61)
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.—diluted	\$ (6,593)	\$ 4,115	\$ (2,478)	\$ (6,760)	\$ 7,928	\$ 1,168
Denominator						
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—basic	13,962	_	13,962	11,500	_	11,500
Effect of dilutive securities:						
Restricted stock units	_	_		_	2,919	2,919
Nonqualified stock options			<u> </u>		<u> </u>	
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—diluted	13,962	_	13,962	11,500	2,919	14,419
Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic	\$ (0.47)	\$ 0.29		\$ (0.59)	\$ 0.68	\$ 0.09
Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted	\$ (0.47)	\$ 0.29	\$ (0.18)	\$ (0.59)	\$ 0.67	\$ 0.08
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted:						
Restricted stock units			4,781			
Nonqualified stock options			3,898			67
Shares of Class B common stock			47,082			47,436
Total shares excluded from earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted			55,761			47,503

⁽¹⁾ The estimated income tax effect of our share of non-GAAP reconciling items are calculated using an assumed blended tax rate of 25%, which represents our expected corporate tax rate, excluding discrete and non-recurring tax items.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

(2) The adjustment to net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests represents stock-based compensation attributed to the noncontrolling interest of our company outstanding during the period.

Non-GAAP Operating Expenses

Non-GAAP operating expenses is a non-GAAP financial measure. Total operating expenses is the most comparable GAAP financial measure. Non-GAAP operating expenses is defined by us as total operating expenses plus other expense (income), net less TAC, stock-based compensation, depreciation, amortization, and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as restructuring charges, and transaction expenses. Non-GAAP operating expenses is a key component in calculating adjusted EBITDA, which is one of the measures we use to provide our quarterly and annual business outlook to the investment community. Additionally, non-GAAP operating expenses is used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short- and long-term operational plans. We believe that the elimination of depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation, TAC and certain other items not related to our core operations provides another measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business, provides additional insight into our discretionary costs and is a useful metric for investors because it allows them to evaluate our operational performance in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

Our use of non-GAAP operating expenses has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. A potential limitation of this non-GAAP financial measure is that other companies, including companies in our industry that have similar business arrangements, may define non-GAAP operating expenses differently, which may make comparisons difficult. Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP financial measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including revenue, gross profit, net income (loss) and cash flows.

The following table presents a reconciliation of total operating expenses to non-GAAP operating expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
		2022		2021		2022		2021
Operating expenses:							'	
Platform operations	\$	30,950	\$	31,715	\$	57,144	\$	56,059
Sales and marketing		17,286		20,553		31,042		34,738
Technology and development	5,011		8,031		10,014			13,931
General and administrative		11,725		14,075		22,808		24,495
Total operating expenses		64,972		74,374		121,008		129,223
Add:								
Other expense (income), net		299		1		303		(68)
Less:								
Traffic acquisition costs		(19,465)		(18,212)		(34,550)		(31,615)
Stock-based compensation	(7,76			(29,686)		(14,144)		(46,777)
Depreciation and amortization		(3,226)		(2,624)		(6,380)		(5,051)
Non-GAAP operating expenses	\$	34,812	\$	23,853	\$	66,237	\$	45,712

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2022, we had cash of \$207.2 million and working capital, consisting of current assets less current liabilities, of \$232.9 million, compared to cash of \$238.5 million and working capital of \$269.1 million as of December 31, 2021.

Our primary sources of cash are revenues derived from the programmatic purchase of advertising on our platform and our existing cash balances, although we have, and may in the future, address our liquidity needs by utilizing our borrowing capacity under our asset-based revolving credit and security agreement (the "Loan Agreement") we entered into with PNC Bank, National Association ("PNC Bank") on October 31, 2019 or raising additional funds by issuing equity.

Our primary uses of cash are capital expenditures to develop our software in support of enhancing our technology platform; purchases of property and equipment in support of our expanding headcount as a result of our growth; the payment of debt obligations used to finance our operations, capital expenditures, platform development and rapid growth; and future minimum payments under our

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

non-cancelable operating leases. We intend to continue investing in critical areas of our business in 2022 to further accelerate demand for our product and growth across the platform.

We assess our liquidity in terms of our ability to generate cash sufficient to fund our short- and long-term cash requirements. As such, we project our anticipated cash requirements as well as cash flows generated from operating activities to meet those needs. We believe our existing cash, cash flow from revenues derived from the programmatic purchase of advertising on our platform, and the undrawn availability under our revolving credit facility from the Loan Agreement will be sufficient to meet our cash requirements over the next 12 months. We believe we will meet longer-term expected future cash requirements and obligations beyond the next 12 months through a combination of existing cash, cash flow from operations, the undrawn availability under our credit facility and issuances of equity securities or debt offerings. Our ability to fund longer-term operating needs will depend on our ability to generate positive cash flows through programmatic advertising purchases on our platform, our ability to access the capital markets, and other factors, including those discussed under the section titled "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

As of June 30, 2022, our material cash requirements from known contractual obligations consisted of future minimum payments under our non-cancelable operating leases, which we estimate will be approximately \$1.0 million for the remainder of 2022, \$3.7 million in 2023, \$3.1 million in 2024, \$3.0 million in 2025 and \$3.0 million in 2026.

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2022 other than the indemnification agreements described in Note 13—Commitments and Contingencies to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We are a holding company with no operations of our own and are dependent on distributions from Viant Technology LLC, including payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement (the "Tax Receivable Agreement") we entered into with Viant Technology LLC, continuing members of Viant Technology LLC and the TRA Representative (as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement) on February 9, 2021, to pay our taxes and satisfy any current or future cash requirements. Our Loan Agreement with PNC Bank imposes, and any future credit facilities may impose, limitations on our ability and the ability of Viant Technology LLC to pay dividends to third parties.

Revolving Credit Facility

Our Loan Agreement with PNC Bank provides us with access to a \$40.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility through October 31, 2024 and is collateralized by security interests in substantially all of our assets. As of June 30, 2022, there was no outstanding balance and \$40.0 million of undrawn availability under the Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2021, we had a balance of \$17.5 million of outstanding borrowings and \$22.5 million of undrawn availability under the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement contains customary conditions to borrowings, events of default and covenants, and also contains a financial covenant requiring us not to exceed a maximum leverage ratio. As of June 30, 2022, we were in compliance with this covenant, and we do not believe this covenant or any other provision in the Loan Agreement will impact our credit or cash in the next 12 months or restrict our ability to execute on our business plan beyond 12 months.

For further discussion of our Loan Agreement with PNC Bank, refer to Note 8—Revolving Credit Facility and PPP Loan to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2022 2021			2021
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data				
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities	\$	(8,519)	\$	23,571
Cash flows used in investing activities		(4,338)		(4,016)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities		(18,375)		223,087
Increase (decrease) in cash	\$	(31,232)	\$	242,642

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Cash Flows Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities have been primarily influenced by growth in our operations, increases or decreases in collections from our customers and related payments to our suppliers of advertising media and data. Cash flows from operating activities have been affected by changes in our working capital, particularly changes in accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The timing of cash receipts from customers and payments to suppliers can significantly impact our cash flows from operating activities. We typically pay suppliers in advance of collections from our customers. Our collection and payment cycles can vary from period to period. In addition, we expect seasonality to impact cash flows from operating activities on a quarterly basis.

Our cash flows used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$8.5 million, a net decrease of \$32.1 million, or 136%, from cash flows provided by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 of \$23.6 million. The change in cash flows for the period were primarily due to:

- a decrease of \$27.7 million from net loss;
- an increase of \$22.2 million due to noncash add back adjustments to net loss primarily comprised of \$14.1 million for stock-based compensation, \$6.4 million for depreciation and amortization, and \$1.3 million of amortization of operating lease assets;
- an increase of \$5.5 million from changes in working capital (excluding deferred revenue, other liabilities, and operating lease liabilities), including a net increase of \$17.3 million in accounts receivable, prepaid assets and other assets primarily related to lower sales and timing of customer collections due to seasonal fluctuations, partially offset by a decrease of \$11.8 million in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued compensation primarily related to timing of payments;
- a decrease in deferred revenue of \$6.5 million primarily related to the modification agreement with a customer whereby we paid a sum to the customer in exchange for the full, final and immediate termination of certain deferred revenue liabilities;
- a decrease in operating lease liabilities of \$1.0 million; and
- a decrease in other liabilities of \$1.1 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, cash provided by operating activities of \$23.6 million resulted primarily from a net loss of \$33.0 million offset by noncash add back adjustments to net loss of \$46.8 million for stock-based compensation, \$5.1 million for depreciation and amortization, \$0.2 million in recovery of doubtful accounts and an increase in net working capital (excluding deferred revenue and other liabilities) of \$12.6 million, a decrease in deferred revenue of \$1.1 million and a decrease in other liabilities of \$0.5 million.

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities have consisted of capital expenditures to develop our software in support of enhancing our technology platform and purchases of property and equipment in support of our expanding headcount as a result of our growth. We capitalize certain costs associated with creating and enhancing internally developed software related to our technology infrastructure that are recorded within property, equipment and software, net. These costs include personnel and related employee benefit expenses for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to software development projects. Purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software development costs may vary from period-to-period due to the timing of the expansion of our operations, the addition of headcount and our software development cycles. As a result of capitalization of stock-based compensation in future periods and the growth of our business, we expect our capital expenditures and our investment activity to continue to increase.

Our cash flows used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$4.3 million, a net increase of \$0.3 million, or 8.0%, from cash flows used in investing activities for six months ended June 30, 2021 of \$4.0 million. The change in cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 were primarily due to:

- \$3.9 million of investments in capitalized software to develop our software in support of enhancing our technology platform; and
- \$0.4 million of purchases of property and equipment.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, cash used in investing activities of \$4.0 million resulted primarily from investments in capitalized software development costs.

(unaudited; tabular dollars in thousands, except for percentages and per share data)

Cash Flows Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities

Our financing activities have consisted primarily of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of our debt, issuances of our equity and payments of member distributions. Net cash provided by or used in financing activities has been and will be used to finance our operations, capital expenditures, platform development and rapid growth.

Our cash flows used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$18.4 million, a net decrease of \$241.5 million from cash flows provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 of \$223.1 million. The decrease in cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the prior period in 2021 is a result of the \$232.5 million of proceeds from our IPO that closed in February 2021, net of underwriting discounts and the \$17.5 million repayment of our revolving credit facility during the six months ended June 30, 2022.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, cash provided by financing activities of \$223.1 million resulted primarily from \$232.5 million of IPO proceeds, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, partially offset by payments of \$2.6 million in related offering costs and \$6.8 million in payments of member tax distributions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made and have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with the evaluation of revenue recognition criteria, including the determination of revenue recognition net versus gross assessment in our revenue arrangements, the assumptions used in the valuation models to determine the fair value of common stock and stock-based compensation, and internal use software have the greatest potential impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates.

There have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies and estimates during the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the critical accounting policies and estimates disclosed in Part II, Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

For information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, there have been no material changes in our exposure to market risk. For a discussion of our exposure to market risk, see Part II, Item 7A "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) under the Exchange Act) during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues within a company are detected. The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We are not currently a party to any litigation the outcome of which, we believe, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows, or financial condition. Defending any such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition, as well as the price of our Class A common stock, can be affected by a number of factors, whether currently known or unknown, including those described in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. When any one or more of these risks materialize from time to time, our business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition, as well as the price of our Class A common stock, can be materially and adversely affected. There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds from our Initial Public Offering

On February 12, 2021, we completed our IPO, pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of 11,500,000 shares of our Class A common stock (inclusive of 1,500,000 shares pursuant to the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares) at the IPO price of \$25.00 per share. The offer and sale of the shares of Class A common stock in the IPO were registered pursuant to registration statements on Form S-1 (File Nos. 333-252117 and 333-252907), which became effective on February 9, 2021.

There has been no material change in the intended use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus, dated February 9, 2021 and filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on February 11, 2021.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Under the LTIP, we are permitted to satisfy any national, state, local or other tax withholding obligation due upon the vesting of an award granted under the LTIP by repurchasing an amount of shares otherwise deliverable on the vesting date having a fair market value equal to the withholding obligation. All of the shares repurchased by us during the second quarter of 2022 were in connection with this tax withholding obligation. During the three months ended June 30, 2022, we repurchased the following shares of our Class A common stock:

]	Period		Total Number of Shares Purchased (1)	Average Price Paid Per Share (2)	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	Maximum Number (or Approximate Dollar Value) of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs
		4/1/22 to 4/30/22	_	_	_	_
		5/1/22 to 5/31/22	_			_
		6/1/22 to 6/30/22	139,701	6.16	_	_
		Total	139,701	\$ 6.16	\$ —	\$

- (1) Represents the shares of Class A common stock we repurchased upon the vesting of restricted stock units to satisfy the applicable tax withholding obligations incidental to the vesting of such awards.
- (2) Represents the average price per share that we paid for the repurchases described above.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit Number	Description
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Viant Technology Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-40015) for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed on March 23, 2021)
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Viant Technology Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-40015) for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed on March 23, 2021).
10.1*+	Viant Technology Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, effective as of May 17, 2022
31.1*	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*	Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1*†	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2*†	Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

^{*} Filed herewith.

[†] The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and will not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

⁺ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

SIGNATURES

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 9, 2022	Ву:	/s/ Tim Vanderhook	
,	·	Tim Vanderhook	
		Chief Executive Officer and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer)	
Date: August 9, 2022	Ву:	/s/ Larry Madden	
		Larry Madden	
		Chief Financial Officer	
		(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC. NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

EFFECTIVE AS OF MAY 17, 2022

Each member of the Board of Directors (the "Board") who is not also serving as an employee of or consultant to Viant Technology Inc. (the "Company") or any of its subsidiaries (each such member, an "Eligible Director") will receive the compensation described in this Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy for his or her Board service upon and following the date first set forth above (the "Policy Effective Date"). An Eligible Director may decline all or any portion of his or her compensation by giving notice to the Company prior to the date cash may be paid or equity awards are to be granted, as the case may be. This policy is effective as of the Policy Effective Date and may be amended at any time in the sole discretion of the Board.

Annual Cash Compensation

The annual cash compensation amount set forth below is payable to Eligible Directors in equal quarterly installments in arrears, on or promptly following the last day of each fiscal quarter in which the service occurred. If an Eligible Director joins the Board or a committee of the Board at a time other than effective as of the first day of a fiscal quarter, each annual retainer set forth below will be prorated based on days served in the applicable fiscal quarter, with the prorated amount paid on or promptly following the last day of the first fiscal quarter in which the Eligible Director provides the service and regular full quarterly payments thereafter. All annual cash fees are vested upon payment.

- 1. <u>Annual Board Service Retainer:</u>
 - a. All Eligible Directors: \$50,000
- 2. <u>Annual Committee Chair Service Retainer:</u>
 - a. Chair of the Audit Committee: \$15,000
 - b. Chair of the Compensation Committee: \$10,000
 - c. Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: \$7,500

Expenses

The Company will reimburse Eligible Directors for ordinary, necessary and reasonable out-of-pocket travel expenses to cover in-person attendance at and participation in Board and committee meetings; provided, that the Eligible Director timely submits to the Company appropriate documentation substantiating such expenses in accordance with the Company's travel and expense processes.

Equity Compensation

The equity compensation set forth below will be granted under the Company's 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan as may be amended from time-to-time, or any successor plan thereto (the "*Plan*"), and a restricted stock unit ("*RSU*") grant notice and award agreement thereunder.

1. <u>Initial RSU Grants</u>. For each Eligible Director who is first elected or appointed to the Board following the Policy Effective Date, on the effective date of such Eligible Director's initial election or appointment to the Board (or, if such date is not a market trading day, the first market trading day thereafter) (the "*Appointment Effective Date*"), the Eligible Director will automatically, and without further action by the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board, be granted RSUs with respect to shares of the Company's common stock ("*Common Stock*") with an aggregate value of \$150,000 (the "*Initial RSU*

269043289 v8

Grant"). The number of RSUs subject to the Initial RSU Grant will be determined by dividing the grant value by the closing price per share of Common Stock on the applicable Appointment Effective Date, rounded to the nearest whole share. The Initial RSU Grant will vest over a three-year period, with one-third (1/3) of the Initial RSU Grant vesting on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the Appointment Effective Date, subject to the Eligible Director's Continuous Service (as defined in the Plan) through each such vesting date.

Annual RSU Grants. On the date of each annual stockholder meeting of the Company (each, an "Annual Meeting") held after the Policy Effective Date ("Annual Grant Date"), each Eligible Director who continues to serve as a non-employee member of the Board following such Annual Meeting (including any Eligible Director who is first appointed or elected by the Board at an Annual Meeting) will automatically, and without further action by the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board, be granted RSUs with respect to shares of the Company's Common Stock with an aggregate value of \$150,000 (the "Annual RSU Grant"). The number of RSUs subject to the Annual RSU Grant will be determined by dividing the grant value by the closing price per share of Common Stock on the applicable Annual Grant Date, rounded to the nearest whole share. The Annual RSU Grant will vest in full on the earlier of (i) the date of the following year's Annual Meeting (or the date immediately prior to the next Annual Meeting if the Non-Employee Director's service as a director ends at such Annual Meeting due to the director's failure to be re-elected or the director not standing for re-election); or (ii) the one-year anniversary measured from the applicable Annual Grant Date, subject to the Eligible Director's Continuous Service through such vesting date.

With respect to an Eligible Director who, following the Policy Effective Date, was first elected or appointed to the Board effective as of a date other than the date of the Annual Meeting, on the applicable Appointment Effective Date, such Eligible Director will automatically, and without further action by the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board, receive a grant of RSUs with respect to shares of the Company's Common Stock, the aggregate value of which will be \$150,000, prorated based on the number of calendar days remaining between the applicable Appointment Effective Date and (i) the next Annual Meeting, if scheduled, or (ii) the first anniversary of the Company's last Annual Meeting, if the next Annual Meeting is not yet scheduled (the "*Prorated Annual RSU Grant*"). The number of RSUs subject to the Prorated Annual RSU Grant will be determined by dividing the prorated grant value by the closing price per share of Common Stock on the applicable Appointment Effective Date, rounded to the nearest whole share. The Prorated Annual RSU Grant will vest in full on the date of the next Annual Meeting (or the date immediately prior to the next Annual Meeting if the Non-Employee Director's service as a director ends at such Annual Meeting due to the director's failure to be re-elected or the director not standing for re-election), subject to the Eligible Director's Continuous Service through such vesting date.

3. <u>Accelerated Vesting.</u> Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Initial RSU Grant, Annual RSU Grant, and Prorated Annual RSU Grant will vest in full upon a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan), subject to the Eligible Director's Continuous Service through the date of such Change in Control.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Tim Vanderhook, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viant Technology Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2022

/s/ Tim Vanderhook

Tim Vanderhook Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Larry Madden, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viant Technology Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2022

/s/ Larry Madden

Larry Madden
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Viant Technology Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)	The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 1.	3(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the Company.	The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all	material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Date: August 9, 2022	By:	/s/ Tim Vanderhook
		Tim Vanderhook
		Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
		(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Viant Technology Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)	The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a	or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the Company.	The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all m	aterial respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Date: August 9, 2022	By:	/s/ Larry Madden
		Larry Madden
		Chief Financial Officer
		(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)